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1. OVERVIEW OF AGENCY 

1.1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The importance of the Quadriplegic Centre is demonstrated daily through 
comprehensive support of its target patient and client population. Quadriplegic Centre 
patients are highly dependent individuals with quadriplegia, often with co-morbidity, 
and where they: 

• Require post injury rehabilitation and are awaiting funding for independent living in 
the community; 

• Require sub-acute or ventilator dependent care that would traditionally be provided 
at the State Spinal Unit; 

• Are unable to live independently in the community due to the extent of medical, 
nursing and personal care requirements or 

• Require respite to meet medical requirements, provide relief for family or carer and 
to facilitate continuity of independent living goals. 

The Centre has maintained a model of care that supports patients from sub-acute to 
long term rehabilitation and additionally, has a strong focus on support of community 
clients, through the provision of community outreach support and respite care. 
The Quadriplegic Centre maintains strong links with the State's Spinal Unit. The 
Centre's capacity to provide transitional care from the tertiary acute service continues 
to ensure the most effective use of tertiary beds in this patient sector. 

The Centre has maintained an important capacity to provide for the ongoing 
management of major pressure ulcers, a major clinical management issue for 
quadriplegic patients. The Centre accepts admissions, both prior to surgery and post 
operatively, with eventual discharge to the community. 

The Centre's continuing commitment to long term rehabilitation for highly dependent 
patients remains essential. It is the high level of care required in long term 
rehabilitation which prevents patients from living independently and in the context of 
this service, emphasises the need for task efficient accommodation and support 
services. 
Four applications for admission were rejected during the year as these came from 
people who did not meet the Admission Criteria. All were paraplegics, who after a 
lifetime of independent living, were now suffering from multiple issues as a result of 
their spinal cord injury, which require significant amounts of care. They were looking 
for long-term accommodation. There appears to be an increasing need by people in 
this cohort for care of this nature. 
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The Quadriplegic Centre importantly maintains and supports the goal of community 
living for all spinal injured persons. Hospital services are directed to this outcome, 
whilst for spinal injured clients already living in the community, the Hospital provides 
an effective community outreach and support service. The Community Nursing 
Service offers primary care and as will be seen later in this report and through early 
intervention strategies, the Centre facilitates early treatment of client injury or health 
condition in the home, where in other circumstances, these conditions would present 
demand for tertiary and sub-acute in-patient services. The prevention of inappropriate 
admission through support of the community spinal cord injured population is a major 
achievement of the Quadriplegic Centre. Given the obvious benefits achieved by this 
Service, the Board has taken the strategic decision to increase the staff level in this 
area. This will provide greater effectiveness and efficiency in service delivery. 

The Centre maintains links with a wide range of services and facilities to ensure a 
comprehensive response to the needs of the spinal paralysed community. The Board 
expanded the services offered with the appointment of a well-qualified and 
experienced Social Worker on a part-time basis. This appointment has been 
particularly helpful in supporting patients community transition through the NDIS/NDIA 
process. 

The multiple responsibilities of the Quadriplegic Centre places enormous emphasis on 
the Centre's physical resources. As commented in previous reports, the Quadriplegic 
Centre's accommodation assets have now passed the end of their effective economic 
life. The recent failure of a thermostatic value that lead to a patient injury, 
demonstrates the significant issues associated with operating within the current 
infrastructure. 
The refurbishment and replacement of Quadriplegic Centre accommodation remains 
the single most critical objective of the Board of Management. The Board and the 
Centre's staff continue to work closely with the Department of Health, Western 
Australia. 
At the time of writing, a group of specialists from Queensland, led by Professor Tim 
Geraghty, have been commissioned to review the model of care for patients with 
quadriplegia in Western Australia. It is the intention that this report will further inform 
the Business Case for the redevelopment of the Quadriplegic Centre. 

The Centre maintains a significant commitment to staff development. This not only 
advantages the Centre and its various clientele, it has a flow-on effect into the Health 
sector generally. 

The Centre is committed to quality systems and best practice. In confirmation of these 
objectives, the Centre continues to submit itself to regular, successful external audit to 
monitor the comprehensive attainment of these goals. 

Further, the Quadriplegic Centre maintains a record of sound financial management 
and demonstrates effective financial control and budget discipline. 
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1.2 OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE 

Legal Name: 

Postal Address: 

Street Address: 

Quadriplegic Centre Board of Management 

Quadriplegic Centre 
PO Box 257 
SUBIACO WA 6904 

10 Selby Street, 
SHENTON PARK WA 6008 

Telephone Number: (08) 9381 0144 

Facsimile Number: (08) 9381 5097 

1.2.1 Enabling Legislation 

The Quadriplegic Centre Board of Management is incorporated under the Hospitals 
and Health Services Act (1927), which provides for the establishment, maintenance 
and management of Public Hospitals and for incidental and other purposes. 

The Quadriplegic Centre is managed and controlled by a Board of Management 
constituted under Section 15 of the Hospitals and Health Services Act (1927). 

The Board of Management, as the Accountable Authority for the Statutory Authority, is 
responsible to the Minister for Health, Hon. Kim Hames, MB BS JP, MLA, for the 
general administration of the Health Service. 
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1.2.2 Quality Policy Statement 

The Mission of the Quadriplegic Centre is to be a Centre of excellence in the provision 
of spinal injury management, care and rehabilitation, through the development and 
implementation of services that reflect best practice and innovation in responding to 
the needs of patients with high spinal cord injury. 

The Centre seeks to provide a full range of medical, nursing, allied health, psychology 
and recreation services to meet the clinical needs of patients. Services are to be 
supported by evidence based policy and procedural guidelines. 

The Centre will demonstrate its commitment to excellence in service development and 
delivery through a process of continuous improvement and will subject services to 
ongoing external audits to achieve and maintain accredited Quality Endorsed 
Organisation status. 

The Centre will respect the views of clients, patients and relevant professional groups 
and adhere to principles of social justice, particularly ensuring equity in access to 
services. 

This Policy Statement is authorised by: 

Mr. s.rvf. Yensch 
ExecutKte Director / Administrator 

DATED: 21 June 2015 
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1.2.3 Directions Statement 

VISION 

The Quadriplegic Centre's vision is the creation of a Centre of Excellence in the 
provision of spinal cord injury management, care and rehabilitation in Western 
Australia. 

MISSION 

The mission of the Quadriplegic Centre is to provide a Centre of best practice in the 
provision of spinal cord injury rehabilitation that is both innovative and responsive in 
the services it provides for the community. 

LEADERSHIP IN SERVICE 

The Quadriplegic Centre demonstrates leadership by: 
• The provision of evidence based clinical services; 
• Achieving excellence in education and training; 
• Providing consultancy, network development and support to the acute care 

sector, community care providers and patients; 
• Involvement in clinical research. 

PRINCIPLES 

Quality Care 

The Quadriplegic Centre is committed to the achievement of excellence in service 
development and delivery and as such exposes its services to external auditing to 
maintain the hospital's quality endorsed and accredited status. This program 
underpins a process of continuous improvement in the provision of patient care and 
services to the community in spinal injury rehabilitation. 

Continuity of Care 

The Quadriplegic Centre supports co-ordination and integration of service delivery by 
working in partnership with acute care services, community care providers and 
patients. 

Accountability 

The Quadriplegic Centre uses its resources efficiently through quality management 
practices and ensures services are monitored and evaluated. 

Equity and Access 

The Quadriplegic Centre respects the interest and views of patients and professional 
groups, and adheres to the principles of social justice in response to client and patient 
needs. 
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1.3 MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE 

1.3.1 Accountable Authority 

CHAIRPERSON Professor S.J. Edmondston, Dip Physio, Adv Dip Physio, PhD 

MEMBERS Professor S. A. Dunlop, BSc (Hons), PhD 
Ms S. Chew 
Mr G. Currie 
Ms M. Karniewicz 
Ms J. Morris (Retired) 
Ms M. H. Kuhne BA 
Mr. P.R. Woodland, MBBS (WA), FRACS, FAOrth.A. 

Board Members are appointed by the Governor in Executive Council. The term of 
appointment for each member of the Board commenced on 01/01/2013 and expires 
on 31/12/2015. 

Table One: 

Senior Officers 

Area of Title Name Basis of· 
Responsibility Appointment 

Corporate Management Executive Director Mr S. Yensch Permanent 

Nursing Services Director of Nursing Ms L. Emerson Permanent 

Medical Services General Practitioner Dr W. Quarles Permanent 

Financial Services Chief Finance Officer Mrs T. Zemunik Permanent 
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Table Two: 

Organisational Structure 

I MINISTER FOR HEALTH I 

I BOARD OF MANAGEMENT I 

I EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR I 
MEDICAL SERVICES+--' ____ +-____ ----11 

L-______________ ~, ~----------._------------~ 
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 

SECRETARIAL 

• Secretarial Support 
• Medical Records 
• Patient Admissions & 

Discharges Documentation 
• Patient Database 

Management 

ALLIED 
HEALTH 

SERVICES 

• Occupational 
Therapy 

• Physiotherapy 
• Pharmacy 

Service 
• Psychology 

Service 
• Social 

Welfare 

I DIRECTOR OF NURSING I ADMINISTRATIVE 
SERVICES 

• Admin Support 
r---------------~ ............................. . • Accounts 

NURSING SERVICES 

• Nursing Admin 
• Human Resources 
• Clinical Consultancy 
• Staff Development 
• Education & 

Research 
• Infection Control 
• Clinical/Registered 

& Enrolled Nursing, 
& Assistants in 
Nursing 
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• Reception 
• Banking 
• Contract Management 

COMMUNITY 
NURSING 
SERVICE 

• Hospital & 
Community 
Liaison 

• Community 
Nursing 
Service 

• Outreach 
Support 

HOTEL SERVICES 

• Catering Service 
• Cleaning Service 
• Maintenance 



1.4 SERVICES PROVIDED 

1.4.1 Functions and Services 

Direct Patient Services 
Medical Services 
Nursing Services 
Recreation Services (SLF sponsored) 
Patient Advocacy Service 

Other Support Services 
Corporate Services 
Maintenance 
Hotel Services 
Financial Services 
Medical Records 
Supply 

Allied Health Services 
Physiotherapy 
Occupational Therapy 
Pharmacy 
Psychology Service 
Social Work 

Community Support Services 
Community Nursing and Outreach 
Support 

1.5 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 

The Quadriplegic Centre is funded through the Health Department of WA. The Centre 
accepts appropriate transfers of spinal injured patients from WA hospitals. The 
Centre's Community Nursing Service receives partial funding from the Home and 
Community Care Program (HACC) to assist in providing support to clients living in the 
community, to maintain their independence. 

1.6 OVERVIEW OF THE CENTRE 

The Quadriplegic Centre is administered by a Board of Management incorporated 
under the Hospital and Health Services Act 1927. The Centre provides medical, 
nursing, allied health, physiotherapy, occupational therapy, social worker and 
psychology services. A co-located recreational facility complements the clinical 
services. Community clients receive support and clinical liaison services provided by 
the Centre's Community Nursing Service. 

Admissions to the Quadriplegic Centre may be through self-referral direct from the 
community, referral from another health service or by the community liaison team. 
The Centre's Admission and Discharge Committee consider all requests for 
admission. The treating Doctor must complete a medical report prior to consideration 
for admission. Following the Committee's review, the outcome is formally advised to 
the applicant. Hospital services provided by the Quadriplegic Centre are not an 
alternative to community accommodation services in demand within the spinal injury 
community. 
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2. AGENCY PERFORMANCE 

2.1 ADMISSIONS 

Of the thirty two applications for admission, twenty eight were approved and four were 
declined as they were unsuccessful in meeting the admission criteria. Over 
2014/2015, twenty three patients were successfully discharged to the community and 
no patients died. 

Table Three: 

Patient Movements 

2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 

Number of Admission 32 50 43 70 

Applications Received 

Number of Applications 28 49 43 69 

Approved 

Number of Applicants not 4 1 0 1 

meeting the Admission 
Criteria 
Number of Discharges to the 23 42 49 71 

Community 

Number of Deceased Patients 0 5 9 8 

Total occupied bed days provided by the Centre were 20,966 for 2014/15. This is 
reduced from the 21,587 bed days provided in 2013/2014. 

Table Four: 
Bed Occupancy 

Year Bed Occupancy 
(total occupied bed days) 

2014/2015 20,966 

2013/2014 21,587 

2012/2013 22,994 

2011/2012 24,167 
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2.2 ROLE AND FUNCTION 

The Quadriplegic Centre's primary role is the provision of health care and outreach 
services to people with permanent high spinal cord injury, often with co-morbidities. It 
should be noted this level of injury is both life threatening and life changing. It has a 
major impact on both the individual and the patient's extended family. 

The Centre's role is to maximise post injury independence through the provision of 
appropriate clinical services delivered by the multi disciplinary team of health 
professionals employed at the Centre. 

Continuous clinical review of patient individual care plans, treatment regimes and 
other therapeutic programs form part of the patient's overall clinical management. 
Changes to care plans are made by the clinical team in response to assessed current 
needs. 

2.3 TRANSITIONAL CARE SERVICE 

The Quadriplegic Centre provides a specialist resource for transitional care of 
quadriplegic patients who are stable and do not require tertiary level care. These 
patients require continuing rehabilitation support and are often awaiting the outcome 
of funding applications for accommodation, care packages and home modifications. 

The service also provides for the admission of eligible clients experiencing secondary 
medical sequalae, thereby enabling them to receive intensive medical and nursing 
care. 

Whilst at the Centre the focus of services is to enhance the patient capacity to engage 
with the community by providing reintegration programs focused on the individual 
needs of the person. 

The Quadriplegic Centre Community Nursing Service provides valuable support 
through this time and following discharge from the Centre. 

5,580 days were provided for Transitional Care during 2014/2015. 

2.4 EXTENDED REHABILITATION 

The Quadriplegic Centre provides ongoing care for high level quadriplegic patients, 
whose general medical sequalae precludes independent living in the community. 
Applicants may typically present with multiple co-morbidities in addition to paralysis, 
requiring ongoing access to the Centre's medical, nursing and allied health services. 

Extended rehabilitation patients require levels of care that are not available within the 
community. The life span of persons with high spinal cord injuries has increased with 
advances in medical management. 
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Given this increase in life span of persons with quadriplegia, the associated increase 
in co-morbidities and range of additional health issues poses ongoing challenges to 
health planners. The demand on services of this high care population will impact upon 
the acute care sector and the Quadriplegic Centre's ability to provide this level of care. 

14,317 days were provided for Extended Rehabilitation during 2014/2015. 

2.5 RESPITE SERVICE (UP TO 28 DAYS) 

The Quadriplegic Centre provides an essential source to support patients and their 
families from around the State. Respite services give clients and their families options 
of care for up to 4 weeks whilst families rest or recuperate as clients access medical 
review, treatment and support. Patients of this service often present with concurrent 
medical conditions, including urological and bowel issues and/or pressure ulcers, all 
requiring urgent interventions which can be provided during their stay at the Centre. 

369 days were provided for Respite Care during 2014/2015. 

2.6 VENTILATOR DEPENDENT QUADRIPLEGIC COMMUNITY 
CARE PROGRAM 

The Quadriplegic Centre manages patients with high spinal cord injury reqUlnng 
mechanical ventilation to maintain breathing. This service is in its eighth year of 
operation (commenced in 2007). Currently we have three patients in the program. 
The focus of the program is to provide best practice in managing the ventilated patient. 

Funding for this purpose is currently available to the Quadriplegic Centre under the 
Ventilator Oependent Quadriplegic Community Care Program (VOQCCP) through 
Fiona Stanley Hospital. Care provided under this agreement reduces the burden on 
acute care services to provide long term management of this patient population with a 
significant reduction in the otherwise high tertiary bed day costs. 

The Centre is also able to provide respite care options for fully ventilated clients, who 
live in the community, further preventing the need for these clients to access high cost 
acute care services. 

Where possible, patients of this service will return to live the community with ongoing 
support from the VOQCCP program and Quadriplegic Centre Community Nursing 
Services, as appropriate. 

To maintain and support the Centre's Ventilator Program, comprehensive training is 
provided ensuring the maintenance of clinical competence of existing and new staff. 
This service demands a substantial response from the Centre in provision of this 
specialist service. 

730 days were provided for VDQCCP during 2014/2015. 

16 



2.7 QUADRIPLEGIC CENTRE COMMUNITY NURSING SERVICE 

The Quadriplegic Centre Community Nursing Service (QCCNS) provides a permanent 
community, nursing and liaison service dedicated to support and maintain community 
living and the goals of the spinal injured person. In addition to metropolitan clients, 
country clients are supported during the year by the Community Nurses from the 
Service, with visits extending north to Geraldton, east to Kalgoorlie and south to 
Albany and Esperance. Clients in these areas request visits from the Community 
Nurses for advice on clinical and care issues. Local services in regional areas also 
meet with Service staff to discuss aspects of client management and current clinical 
issues. The Service currently has 587 active clients on its database. 

This financial year there were 3,400 total occasions of service. The Community 
Nursing Service responded to 1,708 service requests from community clients, 618 
contacts with associated services and 962 self-initiated and follow up contacts. This 
has included liaison with organisations such as Silver Chain, Department of Veterans 
Affairs, Disability Services Commission and Continence Advisory services. 

Over the year 124 new pressure sores/burns were identified. Of these, 113 were 
safely managed and treated in the community, which equates to 91 % of clients being 
successfully treated in their own home and avoiding admission to hospital. Only 11 
required admission to hospital (see attached Table Six). The successful treatment of 
these conditions in the home reduces both the incidence and cost associated with 
acute tertiary admissions and ensuring clients, as far as practicable, are able to 
maintain independent community living options. 

Table Five: 

Community Nursing Service - Total Services 2014/15 

Total Services - Community Nursing 2014/15 

Total Number of Clients 587 

Total Occasions of Service 3,400 

Total Requests for Service 2,326 

New Pressure Areas Identified 124 

New Pressure Areas Successfully Treated in the Community 113 

Hospital Admissions Pressure Ulcers 11 

Distance Travelled (kms) 43,131 
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2.8 PSYCHOLOGIST REPORT 

Psychological needs of both Extended Rehabilitation and Transitional Care patient 
groups are often quite different. Long stay patients commonly struggle with low mood 
and coping issues, exacerbated by having to live in a care facility and maintain and 
manage relationships with staff and other patients. Their life at the Centre needs to be 
constantly enriched and motivating and supporting them to achieve this is an ongoing 
psychological process. The transitional care patients are more likely to be suffering 
with adjustment disorders and anxiety, some also struggle with substance abuse 
problems. 

Psychologically speaking, the potential for stress/frustration, depression and anxiety 
remains high for all our patients, family and staff alike and regular teaching sessions 
about dealing with challenging behaviours have been put in place. On the whole, 
more difficult periods of stress have been managed successfully and worked through 
with patients and staff to maintain a positive and safe environment for all. 

There continues to be a high number of young male patients at the Quadriplegic 
Centre and supporting them through the necessary but difficult adjustments is vital. 
The frustrations and hopelessness felt by many of these young men at times requires 
a lot of psychological support and counseling, requiring the input of the psychologist in 
liaison with the other health professionals in trying to meet this need. 

Providing support and education to staff is a large and integral part of the role of a 
psychologist, which requires a consultative and approachable nature of the rapport 
between all the health professionals. 

2.9 PHYSIOTHERAPY SERVICE 

Physiotherapy services play an essential role in maintaining and improving the 
patient's capacity for independence in functions of daily living. 

Following high spinal cord injury, patients display reduced respiratory function and 
some may require mechanical ventilation. Injuries at each of the cervical levels all 
display reduced respiratory function, requiring extensive input from the physiotherapy 
staff. 

All patients are encouraged to attend physiotherapy for both acute and ongoing 
treatment, rehabilitation and gym programs. The department provides initial 
assistance and ongoing support for patients, utilising gym equipment while patients on 
prolonged bed rest have the opportunity to access physiotherapy services at the 
bedside. The Physiotherapy department has continued to provide support for 
ventilator-dependent patients. 

Programs are conducted in conjunction with the Occupational Therapy department to 
enhance individual patient outcomes. Appointment times for patients within the 
department have continued to be updated on an ongoing basis with flexible 
arrangements. The combined allied health therapy session has been available for 
clients requiring intense rehabilitation. 
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Physiotherapists have continued to contribute to the induction programme for all new 
staff including back care education, manual handling principles as well as 
demonstration of patient handling techniques and transfers. The department has also 
contributed to the training of staff for gaining competence in caring for a patient on 
mechanical ventilation and cough assist update workshops. Contribution is also made 
to the annual mini spinal course at the Centre and training is provided for Spine & 
Limb Foundation, Attendant Care employees. 

The Physiotherapy department also provides ongoing manual handling workshops for 
nursing staff with a strong emphasis on correct handling techniques and risk 
management skills. The workshops specifically address issues regarding handling of 
heavy, highly dependent or challenging patients. Annual competency assessments 
are undertaken for all nursing staff to ensure manual handling skills and practice is at 
the highest level. 

Risk assessment and risk management practices related to each patient are subject to 
individual assessment and regular review. Training for community carers of spinal 
injured clients in the community is an ongoing service. 

The Physiotherapy department have replaced or acquired some equipment items 
following the closure of Royal Perth Hospital, Shenton Park campus. The items 
replaced included a plinth and Westminster pulley system, as well as we acquired the 
Monark arm bike, exercise equipment column, dumbbells and various accessories for 
functional rehabilitation. 

The department has undergone refurbishment including new flooring and repainting. 

2.10 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY SERVICE 

The Occupational Therapy Department at the Quadriplegic Centre endeavours to 
assist patients to achieve the highest possible levels of independence, working 
collaboratively with individuals and their families. All interventions are centered on 
providing assistance to them to work towards achieving their goals. 

The Occupational Therapy department is a well-equipped clinic/workshop. We 
manufacture assistive devices and equipment that is not commercially available and 
each item is specifically made to suit the unique needs of the individual. Although the 
premise may be the same, each device needs to be adapted to meet the individual's 
specific needs. 

The service continues the rehabilitation process of patients by increasing their level of 
independence and assist in their transition back into the community. Respite patients 
have access to Occupational Therapy services, and often return to the community with 
an increased level of independence. 
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The Occupational Therapist department assists patients in the acquisition of 
equipment through various schemes, including the Community Aids and Equipment 
Program, Better Life Foundation, McKellar-Hall Trust, Equipment for Living Grant 
through Lotteries Commission. This equipment can include pressure relief items, 
specialised garments, commodes, wheelchairs, environmental control systems, 
electrically adjustable beds and vehicle modifications. 

The past year has seen the closure of our Community Aids and Equipment 
Programme provider - the Royal Perth Hospital Shenton Park Campus. This caused 
many challenges to the effective provision and maintenance of equipment until the 
role was allocated to Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital. 

We not only assist in independence in activities of daily living, but also promote 
independence in the pursuit of leisure interests and education. Another area of focus 
is communication, providing or adapting equipment such as voice amplification 
devices, communication systems, mobile phones/telephones, call bell systems and 
computers. 

In addition to the above, the Occupational Therapy department provides information 
and resources to patients, families and staff. The Quadriplegic Centre Occupational 
Therapy department has developed a reputation for excellence in the rehabilitation of 
spinal cord injuries, with staff from facilities both metropolitan and regional seeking 
advice. 

2.11 RESIDENT SERVICES 

The role of the Resident Service Officer (RSO) is to support patient needs by 
responding to the day-to-day domestic needs of patients, liaising with families and 
acting as an advocate, both within the Centre and beyond. 

The service ensures all new patients are orientated to the Centre, facilitating a smooth 
transition on admission and ensuring the patient is provided with all relevant 
information regarding the Centre's services and facilities. liaising closely with nursing 
and allied health staff and being an integral part of the multidisciplinary team, the RSO 
assists with patient preparation for discharge to the community by providing support to 
patients, following up on any concerns or issues they may have. This often includes 
dealing with external care agencies. 

The closure of Royal Perth Hospital, Shenton Park campus and the relocation of State 
Spinal Rehabilitation services to Fiona Stanley Hospital (FSH) has had a major impact 
in the role of the RSO. Much time is now allocated to driving and transporting patients 
to appointments at FSH. 

The RSO is often required to provide advice and support in dealing with a number of 
government agencies such as Centrelink and Medicare. The RSO also assists 
patients in applying for job vacancies, educational courses and funding for equipment, 
community care and accommodation. 
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2.12 SOCIAL WORK SERVICE 

In August 2014, a part-time Social Work Service commenced at the Quadriplegic 
Centre. Social workers work in partnership with people to facilitate empowerment, to 
build on strengths, enhance wellbeing and encourage and promote social inclusion. 

In spinal rehabilitation a patient's need for social work services and the extent of that 
service is not a simple function of their diagnosis. Factors influencing the extent of 
social work intervention include the degree and extent of the long term disability and 
subsequent lifestyle changes this brings. Of particular importance is the extent of a 
patient's family and social support and the availability and ease of access to required 
resources, especially in terms of care and housing. 

The success or otherwise of transitioning into the community is so varied with studies 
demonstrating that individuals with poor supports have a higher incidence of 
depression, lower health status, decreased life satisfaction and an increased 
incidence and severity of secondary spinal cord injury (SCI) complications. 

The cohort of patients at the Quadriplegic Centre is varied. As a new service, the 
initial focus has been on discharge planning for 'transitional' patients, many of whom 
had been waiting for years to get Disability Services Commission (DSC) funding to 
facilitate discharge home. 
This involves assessing the patient's needs and wishes for the future. Writing 
Disability Services Commission funding applications plus exploring other options for 
funding such as NDIS and ensuring Department of Housing applications are up to 
date. There has been some success in this area with several patients receiving 
funding and discharging home. 

Advocacy and liaison with multiple stakeholders and case management in regard to 
discharge planning have been a major part of the first year's work and this will be 
ongoing. Focus has also been placed on assessment and support of patients 
admitted for respite. Many of these patients are ageing at home with spinal cord injury 
(SCI) and this involves many challenges and adjustments for them, their family and 
care supports. Involvement for this group has included advocating and liaison with 
community care providers, carer support, counselling and provision of information on 
financial issues. 

The social worker at the Quadriplegic Centre also provides information over the phone 
in response to queries from people living in the community with SCI, various agencies 
and care providers. Working closely with the Quadriplegic Centre Community Nursing 
Service, the liaison enables the Centre to advise on social problems as necessary. 
The department also works closely with the social workers at Fiona Stanley Hospital 
Spinal Unit in order to facilitate appropriate and well supported transition for patients 
transferring to the Quadriplegic Centre. 

The emphasis for long term patients is to encourage them to explore leisure options 
away from the Quadriplegic Centre. This will involve (in collaboration with the 
patients) investigating what is happening in the local community and identifying 
programs or activities that may be of interest to them, then ultimately arranging 
support to enable this to happen. 
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2.13 INFECTION CONTROL 

Hospital acquired infections are on the rise world-wide and persons with high level 
spinal cord injury have an even greater risk of infection. This includes infections of the 
urinary tract, respiratory system, gastrointestinal tract and skin. 

To reduce the risk of infections being transmitted to patients, the Quadriplegic Centre 
operates an effective Infection Prevention and Control Programme. Research shows 
that a significant proportion of infections can be prevented by adherence to 
established infection control practices. 

The effective prevention, monitoring and control of infections are an integral part of the 
quality, safety and clinical risk management operations at the Quadriplegic Centre. 
While not all health care acquired infections can be prevented, the infection prevention 
and control programme ensure systems are in place to minimise their occurrence and 
reduce the risk. 

The Infection Prevention and Control Programme policies and procedures are 
evidence-based, use best practice guidelines and are in line with legislation and the 
Department of Health Guidelines and Standards. They serve to assist staff in 
delivering a high standard of care that minimises the possibility of the transmission of 
infectious agents. 

The measures implemented to achieve this include: 

• a hand hygiene programme and the monitoring of it 
• the availability of an alcohol hand rub in all rooms and ward areas 
• the use of personal protective equipment to control transmission 
• staff training in Infection Prevention and Control at induction and throughout the 

year 
• monitoring and reducing the emergence of antibiotic resistant organisms 
• active surveillance for methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus and 

vancomymcin resistant Enterococci 
• comprehensive cleaning regime and environmental audits conducted 

throughout the year 
• the judicious use of antibiotics 
• an active surveillance programme designed to observe, identify, manage, 

resolve and report infections that occur. This is reported monthly. 
• outbreak management plans 
• flu vaccination made available to staff and patients 
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2.14 RESEARCH 

In the past, the Quadriplegic Centre has participated in wound management research 
using OPAL cream for the treatment of pressure ulcers. The trial demonstrated the 
benefits of OPAL in wound management at the Quadriplegic Centre. The product has 
now been produced as a commercial product and the Centre has continued to provide 
anecdotal evidence of its use and effectiveness. 

2.15 STAFF DEVELOPMENT 

The Centre continues to provide education and training to all staff, based on best 
practice principals, legislative requirements and outcomes of the performance 
appraisal system identified through training needs analysis. 

Employees are provided with specific education and training related to the 
responsibilities of their position and relevant to the care of spinal cord injured persons 
as well as contemporary clinical practice and issues. 

In partnership with the Chamber of Commerce and Industry (CCI), Apprenticeship 
Centre, Polytechnic West and a Registered Training Organisation the Quadriplegic 
Centre has been able to provide nationally recognised traineeships and qualifications 
to employees. Assistants in Nursing have attained Certificate 1 V Disability Work and 
Hotel Services staff continue to undertake Certificate 111 Hospitality: Catering and 
Cleaning Operations. Having successfully attained Certificate 1 V Hospitality- Cleaning 
Operations, the Cleaning Supervisor is currently undertaking a Diploma in Hospitality 
Management. 

Equipping staff in the prevention and management of challenging behaviours is 
covered extensively from the Induction program and continues through the ward 
forums and monthly workshops, facilitated by the psychologist and the Clinical Nurse 
Specialist. 

Annual mandatory education and training for all employees provides the opportunity to 
further develop knowledge and skills, ensuring that all staff work safely and 
competently, providing the highest level of care according to best practice standards. 
Assistants in Nursing are provided with additional opportunities to develop their skills 
through a Mini Spinal Injury Program. 

All care staff are required to complete studies and competencies in Care of the 
Ventilated Patient and this is achieved by the attendance at a Ventilator training day 
followed by mentorship shifts with experienced staff until competency and confidence 
are achieved. 

All catering and care staff annually complete the online City of Nedlands: Food Safe 
training package. 
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All registered and enrolled nurses have completed training on the new computer 
based pharmacy service and medication administration system (DOS Edge). This has 
improved efficiency by simplifying and automating the process of medication 
management. 

The Quadriplegic Centre provides an ongoing programme of practical placement for 
Nursing, Physiotherapy and Occupational Therapy students from both Curtin and 
Notre Dame Universities. 

2.16 EQUIPMENT UPGRADING 

During the year the Centre undertook all prescribed preventative maintenance 
including fire protection equipment, Nurse Call paging systems including a duress 
response system and patient care equipment, including slide sheet and hoist sling 
replacements. 

Substantial purchases were made throughout the year which includes: 

• Mattresses - 2 Air Mattresses and 5 Memory Foam with Air overlay mattresses 
• CCTV - installed in Ashburton corridors 
• Renewed and additional tempering valves for hot water thermostatic control 
• IT telecommunications upgrade WIFI - Connect QC to the necessary ICT 

network cabling - relocation of Spinal Unit 
• Purchase of new patient transport vehicles - two new Toyota Hiace vans with 

wheelchair modifications 
• Renewable phone lines into property 
• Renewed vehicles for Community Nurses. 
• Extensive garden maintenance was undertaken and professional tree surgeons 

were commissioned to lop high risk trees and branches, which were identified 
as hazardous. This improved the overall appearance and ambience of the 
Centre and reduced the risk of damage during storm season. 

• Upgrade to Physiotherapy department: painting, floor covering and carpentry. 
• Ongoing painting and carpet cleaning of all bedrooms 
• Purchase of new stools for dining rooms. 
• Purchase of shower trolley for wards. 
• New carpeting to Chapel. 
• Expenditure to RCR to facilitate Western Power to have access to High 

Voltage. 
• Furniture for Gascoyne lounge room. 
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2.17 QUALITY ASSURANCE 

The Quadriplegic Centre is committed to maintain a coherent and robust quality 
management system to achieve excellence in service development and delivery and 
exposes its services to external auditing to maintain the Centre's quality endorsed and 
accredited status. This programme is based on the ISO 9001 :2008 quality standards 
and is underpinned by a process of continuous improvement in the provision of patient 
care and services to the community in spinal injury rehabilitation. 

• A strong quality culture is supported by a robust quality management system 
whereby any patient, staff member or visitor to the Centre is encouraged to 
participate in quality improvement by completing a Continuous Improvement 
Report (C.I.R). 

• All documentation pertaining to the Quality Management System are originated, 
reviewed, approved and issued to the relevant locations through the Quality 
Committee under the authority of the Director of Nursing. All quality 
documentation, including all policies, procedures and associated forms are 
revised and re-issued as part of the ongoing internal audit process and 
consultative processes. Staff can readily access the Centre's policy and 
procedures through hard and soft versions. 

• The Internal Quality Audit Schedule is ensures quality audits are conducted to 
verify quality assurance activities and related results comply with planned 
arrangements, to determine the effectiveness of the quality system. Internal 
audits cover all areas and functions of the Centre. 

• The complaint resolution and management process is operating well and 
complaints are managed in line with the W.A. Health Department policies. 

In 2014/15, SAl Global: ISO: 9001-2008 audits were conducted in August 2014 and 
February 2015. The objective of these audits was to determine continuing compliance 
of the organisation's management system with audit criteria and measure its 
effectiveness in achieving continual improvement and system objectives. 

The outcome of both audits determined that the management system is being managed 
successfully with appropriate input and support from top management. The 
recommendation was that certification continues. No areas of concern were identified 
and the auditor was unable to offer any opportunities for improvement. This is an 
excellent outcome and reflection on the services provided to patients at the Quadriplegic 
Centre. 

In anticipation of the introduction of the new quality standards being introduced later this 
year, relevant personnel have attended training in Transition to ISO 9001: 2015. 
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The City of Nedlands requires Food Safe audits be conducted by an external auditor 
to ensure compliance under the Food Act 2008. The most recent Food Safe audit on 
16th April 2015 found the Quadriplegic Centre to be fully compliant and categorised the 
Centre as High Performance. The High Performance category is achieved when the 
audit has not disclosed any contraventions of the Food Act 2008 or the Australia New 
Zealand Food Standards Code and where, in the view of the auditors, has a high 
confidence in the Food Safe Programme (FSP). A high level of confidence is 
measured in two ways; 1) Evidence of continuing compliance with the FSP and 2) 
The business has an effective internal food safety audit and management review 
process. 

2.18 RISK MANAGEMENT 

Strategic risk management is an integral part of management practice within the 
Centre, identifying and managing risks likely to impact on the organisation's ability to 
achieve its mission and objectives. 

In April 2014, a Risk Register was created which identifies risk type, provides a risk 
description, details the current controls and evaluates the risk likelihood / level. This is 
an extensive and comprehensive assessment of all risks within the Quadriplegic 
Centre and is a valuable resource used in strategically managing and preventing 
accidents and injury to everyone who lives, works or visits the facility. The Risk 
Register will be updated annually to capture changes to working conditions & 
practices. The last update occurred as at March 2015. 

Manual handling and ergonomics continues to be one of the highest risk areas within 
spinal nursing and comprehensive risk management strategies are in place to 
continuously reduce the risk in this area. Reassessment of all patients in relation to 
manual handling continues throughout 2014/15 and outcomes of reassessment are 
communicated to staff through training, workshops and comprehensive investigation of 
all manual handling incidents/accidents/near misses and hazard identification. 

All chemicals used throughout the Centre are recorded in the Chemical Register and 
are supported by Material Safety Data Sheets. Chemical training is mandatory for all 
new staff that comes into contact with chemicals as part of their job descriptions. This 
training is then repeated as part of the staff member's annual appraisal process. 
Internal chemical safety audits are conducted regularly through the Centre's internal 
auditing program and via workplace safety inspections. 

A comprehensive training and education program has been implemented to better 
identify, manage and prevent violence and aggression in the workplace. Emphasis of 
this program continues to be the prevention of challenging behaviors through risk 
assessment and management of high risk patients and triggers. Ongoing education, 
workshops, management support, policy and procedural guidelines are used to 
prevent and manage episodes of violence and aggression within the Quadriplegic 
Centre as they arise. 
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2.19 FACILITY UPGRADING PROGRESS 

In 2003 the then Executive Director, Mr Nigel Glass AM, articulated the need for a 
review of the Quadriplegic Centre accommodation assets. 

In March 2004 invitations were sent to a number of architects requesting they submit a 
proposal to carry out a feasibility study, along with the provision of master planning 
concepts. 

Since this time, the Board has established, in conjunction with the Department of 
Health, a case for the redevelopment of the Centre. Over a number of years, the 
Business Case has been developed, recognising the need for such redevelopment. 

As mentioned previously in this report, a further review of the clinical needs, relating to 
best practice in spinal cord injury rehabilitation, has been commissioned. At the time 
of writing, this report is not yet available. It is expected that this report will further 
inform the Business Case for the redevelopment of the Quadriplegic Centre. 

Funding for the redevelopment of the Quadriplegic Centre, whilst a priority of Health, 
remains in competition with all other funding requirements placed on the Health and 
State budgets. 

3. SIGNIFICANT TRENDS & ISSUES 

3.1 SPINAL CORD INJURY STATISTICS (AUSTRALIAN) 
[These are the most up to date statistics for spinal cord injury in Australia as at April 2014]. 

During 2007-08, 362 new cases of SCI were registered with 77 (21 %) of these 
resulting from non-traumatic causes, where SCI was secondary to medical conditions 
such as vascular disorders (22%), infectious conditions (17%) and spinal stenosis 
(23%). 

• More than 10,000 people are living with spinal cord injury in Australia. 3 

• One person a day suffers a spinal cord injury in Australia.3 

• With improved emergency management, medical care and rehabilitation, life 
expectancy after spinal cord injury has improved, leading to increasing 
prevalence in the future.3 

• The total cost of spinal injury in Australia is estimated to be $2 billion annually.2 

Residents of Western Australia had a three-year annual average incidence rate of 
persisting SCI that was significantly higher than the national incident rate (25.1 cases 
per million population versus 15.1 cases per million population)1. 
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4. DISCLOSURES & LEGAL COMPLIANCE 

4.1 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

See the end of this report for all financial declarations and disclosures. 

4.2 OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES 

See the end of this report for all financial declarations and disclosures. 

4.3 HUMAN RESOURCES 

4.3.1 Employee Profile 

Table Six: 

Average Full Time Equivalents (FTE's) 
by employee category 

Category 2014·2015 2013·2014 2012·2013 
Average Average Average 

FTE FTE FTE 

Administration 2 2 2 

Nursing - Total 77.25 78.25 78.25 

(in 2014/15 - 21.68% of 
nursing FTE is allocated 
exclusively to Ventilated 
Patients) 

Allied Health 5.85 6 6.55 

Hotel Services 20.82 20.82 20.82 

Maintenance 1 1 1 

Medical (Sessional) 0.4 0.4 0.4 

Community Nurses 2 2 2 

Total FTE 109.32 110.475 111.02 

2011·2012 
Average 

FTE 

2 

90.4 

6.85 

20.82 

1 

0.4 

2 

123.47 

The ventilator dependent patients continue to require one-on-one care on a 
continual basis. The high level of nursing care required to nurse the current three 
ventilator dependent patients continues to have a substantial impact on the 
Centre's nursing FTE component. 

28 



4.4 INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 

The Quadriplegic Centre manages industrial relations issues in accordance with the 
conditions contained in relevant Industrial Awards, Agreements and industry best 
practice. The Centre regularly consults with relevant agencies regarding conditions 
and awards for employees. 

4.5 OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH 

The Quadriplegic Centre remains one of the heaviest nursing care environments within 
the State health system. Each patient, without exception, requires direct assistance 
with physical transfers continuously with each major activity of daily living. The 
implications of this in regard to occupational health and safety are significant. The 
Centre continues to strive for best practice outcomes and preventative activities. To 
facilitate this commitment to occupational safety and health, an as&H Committee 
meeting is held monthly. The Committee comprises of the as&H Manager, all other 
Department Managers, ward and clinical nursing representatives and elected staff 
representatives. Previously there had been one elected staff representative, however 
new elections for as&H representatives were held in June 2015. The Quadriplegic 
Centre is committed to ensuring the highest standard of occupational safety and health 
for all personnel, in accordance with the organisation's policies and procedures. 
These standards are subject to an external audit process by the Industrial Foundation 
for Accident Prevention (lFAP). 

To support the Centre's occupational health and safety management system, a 
documented aSH Management Plan is produced yearly to look at new, mandatory and 
ongoing strategies that promote the health and safety of the Centre's staff, students, 
contractors and visitors. This document includes measurable aSH targets that allow 
the Centre to deliver best practice models. 

OSH OBJECTIVES 2015 
OBJECTIVE 

To provide a health and wellness program of monthly seminars to promote staff health and 
prevent illness 

To Provide Challenging Behaviours Support Sessions (CBSS) for all staff 

To conduct orientation and annual aSH mandatory education 

To demonstrate a 25% reduction in manual handling related accidents and incidents for 2015 

To establish a Disaster Preparedness Plan and committee 

To increase the current number of aSH representatives from 1 to 2 

To review the Incident and Accident reporting and investigation system to provide a clear 
aSH focus 
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The aSH targets are audited internally each 6 months to measure their compliance 
against targets. They are audited externally by IFAP annually. 

The Centre's current good record of lost time injuries reflects the outcome and culture 
shift initiated by management in 2009 and implemented consistently since then. This 
is well supported by a program of extensive and relevant OS&H training available to 
all staff. 

The Centre complies with the injury management requirements of the Workers' 
Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 and works within the guidelines of 
the act and staff to develop individualised return to work plans for injured staff. 

Table Seven: 

o f ccupa Iona I S f t H Ith a ety, ea an d I . nJury M anagemen t 
Financial Number of Number of Lost Time Injuries Number of Severe 

Year Fatalities or Disease* Claims-
2014/15 0 0 0 

2013/14 0 2 0 

2012/13 0 1 0 

2011/12 0 0 0 

2010/11 0 0 0 

*"Lost time injury or disease" - The number of lost time injury/disease claims where one day/shift or 
more was estimated to be lost. 
**"Severe Claims" - The number of severe claims (estimated 60 days or more lost from work). 

The Centre is subject to a process of continuous improvement and scrutiny by 
external audit under ISO: 9001-2008 in relation to quality management systems. 

4.6 FIRE SAFETY 

The fire system (updated 2012) provides increased safety to the Centre's patients and 
staff with the advent of smoke/fire doors, an upgraded EWIS system and sprinklers to 
all areas of the Centre. This upgrade has increased the Centre's ability to contain a 
fire, should it occur, and has provided increased capacity to evacuate patients and 
save lives in the event of a fire. Unannounced Fire Evacuation Drills are conducted to 
identify fire safety concerns and enable improved reaction times and more efficient 
coordination of an evacuation. The latest Drill was conducted on 10th June 2015. 

A review of the Centre's Disaster Planning and Preparedness Procedures has 
identified current best practice strategies in managing emergency situations within a 
healthcare setting which have been developed and published as the Quadriplegic 
Centre Emergency Procedure Manual. This manual was most recently reviewed and 
updated in June 2015 to include new information. 

All Registered Nurses have undertaken theoretical and practical training in Fire Safety, 
in addition all employees receive mandatory training and instruction in "Emergency 
Procedures" and "Fire Extinguisher training" on an annual basis. 
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4.7 GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES 

4.7.1 Ministerial Directives 

No directives were issued to the Quadriplegic Centre Board during the 2014/15 year. 

4.7.2 Potential Conflicts of Interest 

No senior officer at the Quadriplegic Centre:-

• Held any shares as beneficiary or nominee in a subsidiary body of the 
Quadriplegic Centre. 

• Mr. S Yensch in his capacity as Executive Director of the Spine and Limb 
Foundation (Inc.) has a related responsibility to administrative staffing of the 
Centre and a grounds maintenance contract undertaken for the Centre by 
Para-Quad Industries. 

• S. Edmondson, G Currie and S Chew as Board members of the Spine and 
Limb Foundation (Inc.) have a related responsibility in administrative staffing of 
the Centre and a grounds maintenance contract undertaken by Para Quad 
Industries. 

• Board members and senior officers of the Quadriplegic Centre declare that, 
other than the information declared above and that reported in the Financial 
Statements, they have no pecuniary interest. 

• All Board members of the Quadriplegic Centre undertake their responsibilities 
without remuneration or other benefit, in the community interest. 
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4.8 OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS 

4.8.1 Advertising 

This information is published in accordance with Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act. 

Table Eight: 

Advertising Expenditure 2014/15 

Class of Expenditure 2014/15 2013114 2012/13 2011/12 

Advertising Agencies $ $ 

Adcorp Nil $7,906.80 $8,327.53 $13,428.63 

Hay's Recruitment $23,497.68 Nil Nil Nil 

Seek $1,472.77 Nil Nil Nil 

4.8.2 Elimination of Discrimination and Harassment 

Comprehensive policy and procedures are in place to eliminate discrimination and 
harassment. Grievances relating to discrimination and harassment are addressed in 
accordance with the circumstances of the grievance and the policy. 

The Centre values EEO and diversity and strives to have a work environment that is 
free from racial and sexual harassment. Training programs target the elimination of 
discrimination and harassment at orientation and mandatory education as well as 
specific staff support sessions to discuss the management of difficult behaviours. 

The Centre's education program and policies demonstrate a commitment to diversity 
and the prevention and management of all forms of discrimination and harassment. 

Employment programs and practices recognise and include strategies to achieve 
workforce diversity. 

The Centre has a diverse multicultural workforce with a multiplicity of ethnic groups, 
as well as staff with physical and intellectual disabilities. Employment programs and 
practices are consciously free of any bias, that includes but is not exclusive to 
gender, race and sexuality. 
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Table Nine: 

Equity and Diversity Indicators: 

INDICATOR LEVEL OF ACHIEVEMENT 

• EEO Management Plan • Implemented 

• Organisational Plans reflect EEO • Implemented 

• Policies & Procedures encompass EEO Implemented • requirements 

• Established EEO contact officer • Implemented 

• Training & Staff Awareness Programs • Implemented 

• Diversity • Implemented 

4.8.3 Compliance with Public Sector Standards & Ethical Codes 

The Quadriplegic Centre's human resource processes comply with the Public Sector 
Management Act. The recruitment and selection processes for promotional positions 
meet the requirements of the public sector standards. Performance management is 
consistently and fairly applied for all levels of staff and is open to review. All staff have 
equal opportunity to access training and are encouraged to do so. 

A grievance procedure is in place and is promoted at orientation and in-service 
education programs. A code of conduct devised from the WA Public Sector Standard 
is in place. It is available in all policy manuals located throughout clinical areas and is 
promoted during orientation programs. 

No complaints were made in the past year to the Public Sector Standards 
Commissioner related to the conduct of management or staff and there is no evidence 
of any breach of the Public Sector Standards, the WA Public Sector Code of Ethics or 
the Quadriplegic Centre's Code of Conduct. 
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4.8.4 Record Keeping Policy & Plans 

All Quadriplegic Centre staff maintain record keeping practices for all patient and 
corporate (non-patient) records, in accordance with WA Health policies and legislation. 

All staff are made aware that it is an offence under the State Records Act 2000 for any 
government organisation employee to destroy a government record, unless the 
destruction is carried out in accordance with an approved disposal authority. 

The Centre has a policy and procedure, which guides employees on the State 
Records Act 2000 policies and procedures for storage, retention and disposal of 
records. 

The scope of this policy includes both paper based (including medical records) and 
electronic data. The policy covers management, storage and archiving of staff 
records, medical records and administrative documents. 

All archived records are stored in a secure area on site that complies with the Library 
Board ofWA, the FMA and Department of Health 000133/08 directives. 

The Centre auditors, SAl Global, regularly conduct reviews of the efficiency of Centre 
records and the record keeping process. 

4.9 GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS 

4.9.1 Corruption Prevention 

Prevention of corruption is an area of focus for the Centre and there are policies in 
place to manage potential risks. All new staff are given information and education on 
public interest disclosure and corruption and the consequences of misconduct. 

4.9.2 Sustainability 

The Quadriplegic Centre has a continued commitment and awareness of the need to 
provide a service with minimal impact on resources. This is particularly relevant in 
food services, where there are often levels of waste. The implementation of menu 
planning, standardised recipes, and specialist catering software have allowed for 
accurate calculating of ingredient requirements and significant decrease in waste. The 
Centre continues to recy~e paper, aluminum cans and monitoring usage of utilities. 

\ 

----~. 

ensch 
Executive Director 1 Administrator 
Quadriplegic Centre 
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QUADRIPLEGIC CENTRE BOARD 

5. KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

5.1 CERFICATION OF PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, 
are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Quadriplegic Centre 
Board's performance and fairly represent the performance of the Board for the 
financial year ended 30th June 2015. 

k~ 
Dr. k."EdfTlondston 
Chairperson 
Quadriplegic Centre Board 
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30 
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Member of the Board 
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Introduction 

The aim in presenting this information is to assist the public to understand the 
complex and diverse nature of services and activities of the Quadriplegic Centre 
and how these contribute to its performance. 

The key performance indicators reported in the following pages address the extent 
to which the strategies and activities of the Quadriplegic Centre have contributed 
to the required outcomes. 

Effectiveness indicators 

Outcome 1: 

Outcome 2: 

Outcome 3: 

Efficiency Indicators 

Outcome 1: 

Outcome 2: 

Sub - acute Transitional Care (step down) service 

To assist in the prevention of inappropriate 
hospitalisation of community clients through the 
provision of primary care, where practicable 

To provide services according to recognised best 
practice standards and in a manner acceptable to 
patients and clients 

To provide the most efficient service to recognised best 
practice standards and in a manner that maintains 
quality care to patients and clients 

To assist in the prevention of inappropriate 
hospitalization of community clients through the 
provision of primary care, where practicable 
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5.2 EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS 

Outcome 1: 
Sub - acute Transitional Care (step - down) Service 

There is increased emphasis on the Centre for the provision of transitional care for 
patients from the State Spinal Unit to: 

• Facilitate the early discharge of patients from the Tertiary Hospital. 

• Continue clinical management and post-acute rehabilitation. 
• Prepare patients for community integration whilst awaiting funding 

applications for community care. 

Key performance indicators for Outcome 1 

Outcome 1 2014/15 2013/14 ·2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 

Number of patients at 19 16 25 16 15 
start of the year 

I 
I 

Number of 20 32 12 15 8 
admissions 

Number of discharges 23 29 21 6 7 

Number of patients at 16 19 16 25 16 
end of year 

Discharge Target 50% 58.9% 60.4% 56.8% 19.3% 30.4% 
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Outcome 2: 
To assist in the prevention of inappropriate hospitalisation of community 
clients through the provision of primary care, where practicable 

• The Community Nursing Service currently has 587 active clients on its 
database requiring support. 

• There were 3,400 total occasions of service. 
• 124 new pressure sores / burns were identified 
• 113 of these were successfully treated in the community and did not require 

admission to hospital. 

The successful treatment and support of clients in the home reduces both the 
incidence severity and cost associated with acute tertiary admissions. 

Key performance indicators for Outcome 2 

Year' '.' Total no No. pressure Intervention Community 
pressure areas/burns target 85% treatment 

". 

areas/burns treated in the I outcome 
identified community 

...... 
2014/15 124 113 85% 91% 

2013/14 114 108 85% 95% 

2012/13 88 84 I 85% 95% 

2011/12 94 90 85% 96% 

2010/11 92 86 85% 93.4% 

The cost of treating pressure related ulcers/burns in tertiary settings are substantial 
each year. Early and timely community intervention, as provided by the Community 
Nursing Service, reduces and in many cases negates the necessity for hospitalization, 
thereby reducing the overall impact of a client's injury and the high preventable cost of 
care in a tertiary or sub-acute hospital. 
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Outcome 3: 
To provide services according to recognised best practice standards and in a 
manner acceptable to patients and clients. 

The Centre was once again successfully audited by external auditors from S.A.I. 
Global. 

The Centre's status as a Quality Endorsed Company under International Quality 
Standard ISO AS/NZS 9001 :2008 was once again confirmed . 

A patient satisfaction survey is conducted by an external auditor on a biennial basis 
and was last completed June 2014. The survey is designed to gauge the level of 
satisfaction of patient care, be able to provide feedback on level of care, relative to 
the Department of Social Services New National Standards for Disability Services 
2014 (NSDS) and be able to communicate patients' suggestions and feedback for 
improvement. 

The content themes for the survey relate to the NSDS Standards: 

Standard One: Rights 
Standard Two: Participation and Inclusion 
Standard Three: Individual Outcomes 
Standard Four: Feedback and Complaints 
Standard Five: Service Access 

Patient Satisfaction Survey Results 

2012 80 

2010 78.5 

The patient satisfaction survey achieved the target (80%) outcome with 83.1 % overall 
satisfaction recorded. 

The next patient satisfaction survey will be conducted June 2016. 
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5.3 EFFICIENCY INDICATORS 

Outcome 1: 

To provide the most efficient service to recognised best practice standards and 
in a manner that maintains quality care to patients and clients. 

Clinical services are provided within the Centre's allocated budget to recognised best 
Practice standards to meet patient's physical, emotional, social, psychological and 
lifestyle needs. Client satisfaction surveys are conducted on a biennial basis with the 
Quadriplegic Centre's patients and the Community Nursing Service's clients. These 
have demonstrated a positive and constructive response from both the Centre's 
patients and community clients and have confirmed the high standard of service 
delivery provided. 

Cost per bed day for Quadriplegic Centre in-patient services 

Cost per bed 

Target $532.91 $493.17 $503.54 $448.55 $409.75 

Cost per bed day is calculated on the Centre's total cost of service dMded by occupied bed days 

The increase from target is due to increase in repairs and maintenance expense. 
which is indicative of the ageing facilities. 

Outcome 2: 

To assist in the prevention of inappropriate hospitalisation of community clients 
through the provision of primary care, where practicable. 

Cost per community client for clinical and related services 

Occasions of 
service 

Cost per visit 

Target cost per 
visit 

$65.53 

$70 

$67.05 $57.97 $56.64 

$70 $70.00 $70.00 

$46.37 

$70.00 

The efficiency indicator for cost per patient contact is calculated on the total Community Nursing 
Service budget allocation 

40 



DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Certification of Financial Statements 

The accompanying financial statements of the Quadriplegic Centre Board have been prepared in 
compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts 
and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 
and the financial position as at 30 June 2015 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 

St1.~hYS;O' Adv D;p Phys;o, PhD. 
Chairman 
Quadriplegic Centre Board 
Date: 8 September 2015 

U~;:j 
'l' ze:unik. CA 
Chief Finance Officer 
Quadriplegic Centre Board 
Date: 8 September 2015 

Quadriplegic Centre Board 
Date: 8 September 2015 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

Note 2015 2014 
$000 $000 

COST OF SERVICES 
Expenses 

Employee benefits expense 7 9,810 9,293 
Fees for visiting medical practitioners 90 87 
Patient support costs 8 1,045 1,099 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 9 216 211 
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment 10 408 283 
Other expenses 11 311 246 

Total cost of services 11,880 11,219 

INCOME 
Revenue 

Patient charges 12 3,034 2,989 
Interest revenue 163 133 
Other revenues 13 341 333 

Total revenue 3,538 3,455 

Total income other than income from State Government 3,538 3,455 

NET COST OF SERVICES 8,342 7,764 

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 
Service appropriations 14 11,165 9,522 

Total income from State Government 11,165 9,522 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 2,823 1,758 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30th June 2015 

Note 2015 2014 
ASSETS $000 $000 
Current Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 26(a) 9,729 6,553 
Receivables 15 89 230 
Inventories 17 

Total Current Assets 9,818 6,783 

Non-Current Assets 
Amounts receivable for services 16 390 390 
Property, plant and equipment 18 991 1,043 

Total Non-Current Assets 1,381 1,433 

Total Assets 11,199 8,216 

LIABILITIES 
Current Liabilities 

Payables 21 403 351 
Provisions 22 1,726 1,351 
Other current liabilities 23 64 36 

Total Current Liabilities 2,193 1,738 

Non-Current Liabilities 
Provisions 22 102 397 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 102 397 

Total Liabilities 2,295 2,135 

NET ASSETS 8,904 6,081 

EQUITY 
Contributed equity 24 156 156 
Accumulated surplus/( deficit) 25 8,748 5,925 

TOTAL EQUITY 8,904 6,081 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

Note 2015 2014 
$000 $000 

Balance of equity at start of period 6,081 4,323 

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 
Balance at start of period 24 156 156 
Balance at end of period 156 156 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 25 
Balance at start of period 5,925 4,167 
Surplus/( deficit) for the period 2,823 1,758 
Balance at end of period 8,748 5,925 

Balance of equity at end of period 8,904 6,081 

Total comprehensive income for the year 2,823 1,758 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

Note 2015 2014 
$000 $000 

Inflows Inflows 
(Outflows) (Outflows) 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 
Service appropriation 11,165 9,522 

Net cash provided by State Government 26c 11,165 9,522 

Utilised as follows: 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Payments 

Employee benefits (9,712) (9,308) 
Supplies and services (1,756) (1,666) 
GST payments on purchases (207) 

Receipts 
Receipts from customers 3,153 2,810 
Interest received 163 130 
GST receipts on sales 2(m) 19 
GST refunds from taxation authority 177 3 
Other receipts 341 333 

Net cash (used in) I provided by operating activities 26b (7,822) (7,700) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Payments for purchase of non-current physical assets (167) (18) 

Net increase I (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,176 1,806 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 6,553 4,747 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 26a 9,729 6,553 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

Note Australian Accounting Standards 

Note 

General 

The Quadriplegic Centre Board's financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards. The term 'Australian Accounting Standards' refers to Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standard Board (AASB). 

The Quadriplegic Centre Board has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates. 

Early adoption of standards 

The Quadriplegic Centre Board cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by Treasurer's 
Instruction 1101 'Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements'. No Australian Accounting Standards that 
have been issued or amended but not operative have been early adopted by the Quadriplegic Centre Board for the annual reporting 
period ended 30 June 2015. 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 

(a) General Statement 

The Quadriplegic Centre Board is a not for profit entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board as applied by the Treasurer's instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer's instructions to 
vary application, disclosure, format and wording. 

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer's instructions are legislative provisions governing the preparation of financial 
statements and take precedence over the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. 

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification 
and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

Cb) Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting USing the historical cost convention. 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been conSistently applied throughout all periods 
presented unless otherwise stated. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000). 

Note 3 'Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies' discloses judgements that have been made in the process of 
applying the Quadriplegic Centre Board's accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. 

Note 4 'Key sources of estimation uncertainty' discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

(c) Reporting Entity 

The reporting entity comprises the Quadriplegic Centre Board only. 

(d) Contributed Equity 

AASB Interpretation 1038 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities' requires transfers in the nature of 

equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the 

owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. 

Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by Treasurer's Instruction 955 'Contributions by Owners made to 

Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities' and have been credited directiy to contributed equity. 

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as 
contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. 
See also to note 24 - Contributed Equity. 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

(e) Income 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Specific recognition criteria must be met 
before revenue is recognised as follows: 

Sale of goods 
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership are 
transferred to the purchaser and can be measured reliably. 

Provision of services 
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client. 

Interest 
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 

Service Appropriations 
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at nominal value in the period in which the Quadriplegic Centre Board gains control of 
the appropriated funds. The Quadriplegic Centre Board gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the 
bank account or credited to the 'Amounts receivable for services' (holding account) held at Treasury. 
Refer to note 14 'Service Appropriations' for further information. 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Quadriplegic Centre Board obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, 
usually when cash is received. 

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are 
only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated. 

Gains 

Gains may be realised or un realised and are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains ariSing on the disposal of non-current 
assets and some revaluations of non-current assets. 

(t) Property, Plant and Equipment 

CapitalisationlExpensing of assets 

Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed 
(depreciated) over their usefUl lives. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total). 

Initial recognition and measurement 
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. 

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Subseguent measurement 
All items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreCiation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Depreciation 
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects 
the consumption of their future economic benefits. 

In order to apply this policy, the following methods are utilised: 

* all categories of assets - straight line method 

The assets' useful lives are reviewed annually. Expected useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: 

Computer equipment 
Furniture and fittings 
Motor vehicles 
Other plant and equipment 

(g) Impairment of Assets 

4 to 7 years 
10 to 15 years 
4 to 10 years 
5 to 25 years 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where 
there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, 
the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to 
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable 
amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income. As the Quadriplegic Centre Board is a not·for
profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value 
less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

(g) Impairment of Assets (continued) 

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset's depreciation is materially understated, where the 
replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify 
that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the Jevel of consumption or expiration of asset's future economic benefits and to 
evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future 
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value 
is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, 
surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
Refer to note 20 'Impairment of assets' for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing. 

(h) Financial Instruments 

In addition to cash, the Quadriplegic Centre Board has two categories of financial instrument: 
- Loans and receivables; and 
- Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 

These have been disaggregated into the following classes: 

Financial Assets 
• Cash and cash equivalents 
• Receivables 
* Amounts receivable for services 

Financial Liabilities 
* Payables 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face 
value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable 
and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material. 

(i) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with 
original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk 
of changes in value. 

(j) Accrued Salaries 

Accrued salaries (see note 21 'PayabJes') represent the amount due to employees but unpaid at the end of the financial year, as the pay 
date for the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a 
fortnight of the financial year end. The Quadriplegic Centre Board considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its 
net fair value. 

(k) Amounts Receivable for Services (holding account) 

The Quadriplegic Centre Board receives state appropriation funding from the State Government partly in cash and partly as an asset 
(holding account receivable). The holding account receivable balance is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to 
cover leave entitlements and asset replacement. 

Refer to note 14 'Service appropriations' and note 16 'Amounts receivable for services'. 

(I) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the method most appropriate for each 
particular class of inventory, with the majority being measured on a first in first out basis. 

Inventories not held for resale are valued at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they are valued at net realisable value. 
(See Note 17' Inventories'.) 

(m) Receivables 

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (Le. impairment). The 
colleclability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against the 
allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the 
Quadriplegic Centre Board will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement 
within 30 days. 
Refer to note 2(h) 'Financial Instruments' and note 15 ·Receivables'. 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

(n) Payables 

Payables are recognised when the Quadriplegic Centre Board becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of 
assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days. 

Refer to note 2(h) 'Financial instruments' and note 21 'Payables'. 

(0) Provisions 

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. 

Refer to note 22 'Provisions'. 

Provisions - employee benefits 

Annual Leave 

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore considered to be 
'other long-term employee benefits'. The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary 
components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. 
The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national govemment bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Quadriplegic Centre Board does not have an unconditional right to 
the defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 

Long service leave 

Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. The long service leave 
liability is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future peyments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary 
components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. 
The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national govemment bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Quadriplegic Centre Board does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and 
conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Quadriplegic Centre Board has an 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. 

Sick Leave 

Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it is probable that sick leave paid in the future will be greater than the entitlement that will 
accrue in the future. 

Past history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This is expected to 
continue in future periods. Accordingly. it is unlikely that eXisting accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no liability for 
unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for this leave as it is taken. 

Superannuation 

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer public sector superannuation 
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for 
public sector employees vary according to commencement and implementation dates. 

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme. a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 1987 or the Gold 
State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995. 

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension or the GSS Schemes became 

non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 

2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2112. existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new 

employees have been able to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider. The Quadriplegic Centre Board makes contributions 
to GESB or other fund providers on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government's Superannuation Guarantee 

(Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish the Quadriplegic Centre Board's liability for 

superannuation charges in respect of the employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS. 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

(0) Provisions (continued) 

The GSS Scheme is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole of government reporting. However, it is a 
defined contribution plan for Quadriplegic Centre Board purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by 
the Quadriplegic Centre Board to GESB extinguishes the Quadriplegic Centre Board's obligations to the related superannuation liability. 

The Quadriplegic Centre Board has no liabilities under the Pension or the GSS Schemes. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme 
and the unfunded GSS Scheme transfer benefits due to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the 
Treasurer. All other GSS Scheme obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Quadriplegic Centre Board to the 
GESB. 

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS transfer benefits, and recoups from the Treasurer the 
employer's share. 
Refer to note 2(p) 'Superannuation expense'. 

Employment on-costs 

Employment on-costs (workers' compensation insurance) are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and 
expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of 'Other expenses' and are 
not included as part of the Quadriplegic Centre Board's 'Employee benefits expense'. Any related liability is included in 'Employment on
costs provision'. 
Refer to note 11 'Other expenses' and note 22 'Provisions'. 

(p) Superannuation expense 

Superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent 
contributions), the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), and the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). The employer contribution paid 
to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB. 

(q) Comparative figures 

Note 

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year. 

3 Judgements made by management in applying accounting poliCies 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting policies that have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The Quadriplegic Centre Board evaluates these judgements 
regularly. 

Note 4 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

Note 

Title 

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors thal have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year: 

Employee benefils provision 

Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the long service leave provision for the Quadriplegic Centre Board include 
expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in these estimations and 
assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision. 

5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 

The Quadriplegic Centre Board has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 July 2014 that impacted on the Quadriplegic Centre Board: 

AASB 1031 Matenality 

AASB 1055 

This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010), removing Australian guidance on materiality not available in IFRSs and 
refers 10 guidance on materiality in other Australian pronouncements. There is no financial impact. 

Budgetary Reporting 

This Standard requires speCific budgetary disclosures in the general purpose financial statements of not-for-profit entities within 
the General Government Sector. The Quadriplegic Centre Board will be required to disclose additional budgetary information and 
explanations of major variances between actual and budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact. 

AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 

This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes. There is no financial impact. 

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments. 

Part B of this omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from the deletion of references to AASB 1031 in 
other Standards for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. It has no financial impact. 

AASB 2014-1 Amendments 10 Australian Accounting Standards 

Part A of this Standard consists primarily of clarifications to Accounting Standards and has no financial impact for the 
Quadriplegic Centre Board. 

Part B of this Standard has no financial impact as the Quadriplegic Centre Board contributes to schemes that are either defined 
contribution plans, or deemed to be defined contribution plans. 

Part C of this Standard has no financial impact as the it removes references to AASB 1031 Materiality from a number of 
Accounting Standards. 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

Note 5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued) 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 
The Quadriplegic Centre Board cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by Treasurer's 
Instruction 1101 'Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements'. Consequently. the Quadriplegic Centre 
Board has not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Quadriplegic 
Centre Board. Where applicable, the Quadriplegic Centre Board plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their 
application date. 

Title 

AASB9 

AASB15 

AASB2010-7 

AASB 2013-9 

AASB 2014·1 

AASB 2014-4 

AASB 2014-5 

AASB 2014-7 

Financial Instruments 

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments. 

The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being 
amended by AASB 2012-6. AASB 2013-9 and AASB 2014-1. The Quadriplegic Centre 
Board has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

This Standard establishes the principles that the Quadriplegic Centre Board shall apply 
to report useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, 
timing and uncertainity of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a 
customer. The Quadriplegic Centre Board has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard. 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4. 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 
137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127} 

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. 

The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6 
and AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018. The Quadriplegic Centre Board has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Conceptual Framework, Materia/ity 
and Financial Instruments. 

Part C of this omnibus Standard defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017. 
The application date of AASB 9 was subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 
2014·1. The Quadriplegic Centre Board has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of AASB 9. 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 

Part E of this standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential amendments 
to other Standards. It has not yet been assessed by the Quadriplegic Centre Board to 
determine the application or potential impact of the Standard. 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Clarification of Acceptable Methods 
of Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138} 

The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Quadriplegic Centre Board 
as depreciation and amortisation is not determined by reference to revenue generation. 
but bv reference to consumotion of future economic benefits. 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards (including interpretations) arising from the issuance of 
AASB 15. The Quadriplegic Centre Board has not yet determined the application 
or the potential impact of the Standard. 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2014) 

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards (including interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 9 (December 
2014). The Quadriplegic Centre Board has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard. 

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after 

1 Jan2018 

1 Jan 2017 

1 Jan 2018 

1 Jan 2015 

1 Jan2018 

1 Jan 2016 

1 Jan 2017 

1 Jan 2018 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

Note 5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued) 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued) 

Title 

AASB 2014-8 

AASB 2015-1 

AASB 2015-2 

AASB 2015-3 

AASB 2015-6 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2014) - Application of AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 
9 (2009 & 2010) J 

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2009) 
and AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2010), arising from the issuance of 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments in December 2014. The Quadriplegic Centre Board has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Annual Improvements to Australian 
Accounting Standards 2012-2014 Cycle (AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 
134, 137 & 140) 

These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting 
Standard Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle in September 2014, and 
editorial corrections. The Quadriplegic Centre Board has not yet detenmined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure Initiative: Amendments 
to AASB 101 (AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049) 

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure 
requirements in AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-focus 
amendments to address some of the concerns expressed about existing presentation 
and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are able to use judgement when 
applying a Standard in detenmining what information to disclose in their financial 
statements. There is no financial impact. 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 
1031 Materiality 

This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, allowing that Standard to effectively be 
withdrawn. There is no financial impact. 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Extending Related Party 
Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities (AASB 10, 124 & 1049) 

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-for-profit 
public sector entities. Implementation guidance is included to assist application of the 
Standard by not-for-profit public sector entities. The Quadriplegic Centre Board has not 
yet determined the application of the Standard, though there is no financial impact. 

Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after 

1 Jan 2015 

1 Jan 2016 

1 Jan 2016 

1 Jul 2015 

1 Jul2016 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

Note 6 Services of the Quadriplegic Centre 

Continuing Care 
Quadriplegic Centre support services provide people with high spinal injury or disease with treatment and continuing rehabilitative care to 
enable them to remain healthy. Services include the Quadriplegic Centre Community Nursing Service which aims to reduce 
unplanned/avoidable hospital admissions and presentations to emergency departments as well as reducing length of stay for patients 
requiring inpatient care, and non-govemment organisation contracts that provide community members with services and support for 
people with spinal injury. 

Since the Quadriplegic Centre has only one service line, a Schedule of Income and Expenditure by service is not presented. 

Note 7 Employee benefits expense 

Salaries and wages (a) 
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employees. 

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super and other eligible 
funds. 

Employment on-costs expense is included at note 11 'Other expenses'. The employment on-costs 
liability is included at note 22 'Provisions'. 

Note 8 Patient support costs 

Note 

Note 

Note 

Note 

Note 

Medical supplies and services 
DomestiC charges 
Fuel, light and power 
Food supplies 

9 Depreciation and amortisation expense 

Depreciation 
Computer equipment 
Furniture and fittings 
Motor vehicles 
Other plant and equipment 

10 Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment 

Repairs and maintenance 
Consumable equipment 

11 Other expenses 

Communications 
Employment on-costs (a) 
Insurance 
Legal expenses 
Motor vehicle expenses 
Printing and stationery 
Other 

(a) Includes workers' compensation insurance. The on-costs liability associated with the recognition 
of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 22 'Provisions'. Superannuation 
contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in 
employment on-cosls. 

12 Patient charges 

Inpatient charges 

13 Other revenues 

Services to external organisations 
Use of hospital facilities 
Home Visiting Nursing service funding 
Other 

2015 
$000 

8,984 
826 

9,810 

226 
260 
299 
260 

1,045 

14 
38 
14 

150 
216 

354 
54 

408 

14 
76 
40 
29 
8 

12 
132 
311 

3,034 

15 
5 

138 
183 
341 

2014 
$000 

8,579 
714 

9,293 

257 
260 
345 
237 

1,099 

15 
46 
0 

150 
211 

230 
53 

283 

14 
69 
38 

11 
15 
99 

246 

2,989 

11 
6 

134 
182 
333 



Quadripfegic Centre Board 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

Note 14 Service appropriations 

Appropriation revenue received during the year: 
Service appropriations 

Service appropriation fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a 
cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted 
depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year. No 
receivable was accrued this year. 

Note 15 Receivables 

Current 
Patient fee debtors 
Less: Allowance for impairment of receivables 

GST receivable 

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables: 

Balance at start of year 

Doubtful debts expense recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Balance at end of year 

The Quadriplegic Centre Board does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements 
relating to receivables. 

See also note 2(m) 'Receivables' and note 35 'Financial instruments'. 

Note 16 Amounts receivable for services 

Note 

Note 

Current 
Non-current 

This asset represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can 
only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability. See note 2(k) 'Amounts receivable 
for services'. 

17 Inventories 

Current 
Pharmaceutical stores - at cost 

See note 2(1) 'Inventories'. 

18 Property, plant and equipment 

Computer equipment 
At cost 
Accumulated depreciation 
Accumulated impairment losses 

Furniture and fittings 
At cost 
Accumulated depreciation 
Accumulated impairment losses 

Motor vehicles 
At cost 
Accumulated depreciation 
Accumulated impairment losses 

Other plant and equipment 
At cost 
Accumulated depreciation 
Accumulated impairment losses 

Total property, plant and equipment 

2015 
$000 

11,165 

2015 
$000 

133 
(97) 
36 
53 
89 

37 
60 
97 

390 
390 

83 
(50) 

33 

1,073 
(983) 

90 

150 
(32) 

118 

1,500 
(750) 

750 

991 

2014 
$000 

9,522 

2014 
$000 

224 
(37) 
187 
43 

230 

37 
37 

390 
390 

83 
(36) 

47 

1,050 
(954) 

96 

18 
(18) 

1,500 
(600) 

900 

1,043 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

Note 18 Property. plant and equipment (continued) 

Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of 
the current financial year are set out below. 

Computer equipment 
Carrying amount at start of year 
Additions 
Depreciation 
Carrying amount at end of year 

Furniture and fittings 
Carrying amount at start of year 
Additions 
DepreCiation 
Write-off of assets 
Carrying amount at end of year 

Motor vehicles 
Carrying amount at start of year 
Additions 
Depreciation 
Carrying amount at end of year 

Other plant and equipment 
Carrying amount at start of year 
Transfer from/(to) other reporting entities 
Depreciation 
Carrying amount at end of year 

Total property, plant and equipment 
Carrying amount at start of year 
Additions 
Depreciation 
Write-off of assets 
Carrying amount at end of year 

Note 19 Intangible assets 

computer software 
At cost 
Accumulated amortisation 

Note 20 Impairment of Assets 

Note 

There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and eqUipment, and intangible assets at 
30 June 2015. 

All surplus assets at 30 June 2015 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written off. 

21 Payables 

Current 
Trade creditors 
Accrued salaries 

See also note 2(n) 'Payables' and note 35 'Financial instruments'. 

2015 
$000 

47 

(14) 
33 

96 
35 

(38) 
(3) 
90 

132 
(14) 
118 

900 

(150) 
750 

1,043 
167 

(216) 
(3) 

991 

197 
206 
403 

2014 
$000 

62 

(15) 
47 

124 
18 

(46) 

96 

1,050 

(150) 
900 

1,236 
18 

(211) 

1,043 

163 
188 
351 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

Note 22 Provisions 

Note 

Note 

Note 

Current 
Employee benefits provision 
Annual leave (a) 
Long service leave (b) 

Non-current 
Employee benefits provision 
Long service leave (b) 

Total provisions 

(a) Annual leave liabilities and time off in lieu leave liabilities have been classified as current as there 
is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date. 
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows: 

Within 12 months of the reporting date 
More than 12 months after the reporting date 

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right 
to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that 
actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows: 

Within 12 months of the reporting period 
More than 12 months after the reporting period 

23 Other liabilities 

Current 
Income received in advance 

24 Contributed Equity 

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Quadriplegic Centre Board. The 
Western Australian Govemment holds the equity interest in the Quadriplegic Centre Board on behalf 
of the community. 

Balance at start of the year 

Contributions by owners 

Distributions to owners 

Balance at end of year 

25 Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 

Balance at start of year 
Result for the period 
Balance at end of year 

2015 
$000 

1,373 
353 

1,726 

102 

1,828 

558 
815 

1,373 

86 
369 
455 

64 

156 

156 

5,925 
2,823 
8,748 

2014 
$000 

1,099 
252 

1,351 

397 

1,748 

486 
613 

1,099 

27 
623 
650 

36 

156 

156 

4,167 
1,758 
5,925 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

Note 26 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 

a} Reconciliation of cash 

Cash assets at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled 
to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows: 

Cash and cash equivalents 

b) Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in operating activities 

Net cash used in operating activities (Statement of Cash Flows) 

Increase/( decrease) in assets: 
GST receivable 
Other current receivables 
Inventories 

Decrease/(increase) in liabilities: 
Payables 
Current provisions 
Non-current provisions 
Income received in advance 

Non-cash items: 
Doubtful debts expense 
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 9) 
Write down of property. plant and equipment (note 18) 
Adjustment for other non-cash items 

Net cost of services (Statement of Comprehensive Income) 

c) Notional cash flows 

Note 

Note 

Note 

Service appropriations as per Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Less notional cash flows: 

Accrual appropriations 

Cash Flows from State Government as per Statement of Cash Flows 

At the end of the reporting period, the Quadriplegic Centre Board had fully drawn on all financing 
facilities. details of which are disclosed in the financial statements. 

27 Remuneration of members of the Accountable Authority and senior officers 

Remuneration of members of the Quadriplegic Centre Board 
There were no fees. salaries or other benefits received or due and receivable for the financial year 
by members of the Quadriplegic Centre Board and Senior Officers from the Quadriplegic Centre. 
Senior Officers are employed by the Spine & Limb Foundation (Inc.). 

28 Remuneration of auditor 

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect to the audit for the current financial year is 
as follows: 

Auditing the accounts. financial statements and performance indicators 

29 Commitments 
At the end of the reporting period the Quadriplegic Centre Board had commissioned renovations to 
occur to the Physiotherapy and Occupational Therapy area to improve function at an estimated cost 
of $300.000. However at the date of this report this renovation is now in doubt due to the 
complexities surrounding the development approval process. 

Note 30 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

Note 

Note 

At the reporting date the Quadriplegic Centre Board was unaware of any contingent liabilities or 
assets. 

31 Events occurring after the reporting period 

No events have occurred after the reporting date that impact the Quadriplegic Centre. 

32 Related bodies 

A related body is a body which receives more than half its funding and resources from the 
Quadriplegic Centre Board and is subject to operational control by the Quadriplegic Centre Board. 

The Quadriplegic Centre Board has no Related bodies. 

2015 
$000 

9.729 

(7.822) 

11 
(91) 

(52) 
(375) 
295 
(28) 

(60) 
(216) 

(3) 
(1) 

(8.342) 

11.165 

11.165 

16 

2014 
$000 

6,553 

(7.700) 

(3) 
109 
(25) 

4 
48 

(20) 
70 

(37) 
(211) 

(1) 

(7.764) 

9.522 

9.522 

16 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

Note 33 Affiliated bodies 

An affiliated body is a body which receives more than half its funding and resources from the 
Quadriplegic Centre Board and is not subject to operational control by the Quadriplegic Centre 
Board. 

The Quadriplegic Centre Board has no Affiliated bodies. 



Quadriplegic Centre Board 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30th June 2015 

Note 34 Financial instruments 

a) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

Financial instruments held by the Quadriplegic Centre Board are cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables. The Quadriplegic Centre Board has limited exposure to financial risks. The Quadriplegic 
Centre Board's overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Quadriplegic Centre Board's receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Quadriplegic Centre Board. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for 
impairment as shown in the table at Note 34(c) 'Financial Instrument disclosures'. 

Credit risk associated with the Quadriplegic Centre Board's financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than 
govemment, the Quadriplegic Centre Board trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties, The Quadriplegic Centre Board has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to 
customers with an appropriate credit history, In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the QuadriplegiC Centre Board's exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end 
of the reporting period, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. 

Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence such as observable data indicating client credit ratings. For financial assets that are either past due or impaired, refer to 
Note 35(c) Financial Instruments Disclosures. 

Liquiditv risk 
Liquidity risk arises when the Quadriplegic Centre Board is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Quadriplegic Centre Board is exposed to liquidity risk through its normal course of 
operations. 

The Quadriplegic Centre Board has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet 
its commitments. 

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Quadriplegic Centre Board's income or the value of its holdings of financial instrument. The 
Quadriplegic Centre Board does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. 

b) Categories of financial instruments 

In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are: 

Financial Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Loans and receivables (a) 

Financial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 

2015 
$000 

9,729 
426 

403 

2014 
$000 

6,553 
577 

351 

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 

----_. __ ._--_._-----



c) Financial Instrument disclosures 

Credit Risk 
The following table discloses the Quadriplegic Centre Board's maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Quadriplegic Centre Board's maximum exposure to credit risk at 
the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The 
table is based on information provided to senior management of the Quadriplegic Centre Board. 

The Quadriplegic Centre Board does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds. 

Aged analysis of financial assets 

Past due but not impaired - - --

Impaired 
Carrying Not past due Up to More than Financial 
amount and not 12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years ~ assets 

impaired 
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

2015 
Cash and cash equivalents 9,729 9,729 - - - - -
Receivables (a) 36 36 - - - - -
Amounts receivable for services 390 390 - - - - -

10,155 10,155 - - - - -

2014 
Cash and cash equivalents 6,553 6,553 - - - - -

Receivables (a) 187 187 - - - - -
Amounts receivable for services 390 390 - - - -

7,130 7,130 - - - - -

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 



c) Financial Instrument disclosures (continued) 

Liquidity risk and Interest rate exposure 
The following table details the Quadriplegic Centre Board's interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis 
section includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item. 

Interest rate exposures and maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities 

Interest rate eXQosure Maturij,y dates 

~ Fixed Variable Non-
average Carrying interest interest interest Nominal UQ to 12 1-2 2-5 more than 
effective amount rate rate bearing Amount monlhs years years 5 years 

interest rate 
% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

2015 

FinanCial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 1.9% 9,729 - 9,729 - 9,729 9,729 - - -
Receivables (a) - 36 - 36 36 36 - - -
Amounts receivable for services - 390 - - 390 390 - - - 390 

10,155 - 9729 426 10,155 9765 - - 390 

Einanclal Li!!bilities 

Payables (a) - 403 - - 403 403 403 - - -

403 - - -- -___ . _ 403 L.... __ 403_ '----__ 403 ___ -____ -=- --- - -

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the A TO (statutory receivable). 

Interest rate exposure Maturij,y dates 

Weighted Fixed Variable Non-
average Q2rrving interest interest interest Nominal ~ 1-2 2-5 more than 
effective amount rate rate ~ Amount months ~ years 5 years 

interest rate 
% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

2014 

Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 2.5% 6,553 - 6,553 - 6,553 6,553 - - -
Receivables (a) - 187 187 187 187 - -
Amounts receivable for services - 390 - - 390 390 - - - 390 

7,130 - 6,553 577 7,130 6,740 - - 390 

Financial Liabilities 

Payables (a) - 351 - - 351 351 351 - - -
351 - __ _-__ ~L...._~ _~1___ -__ _ _ - -

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 

_<--'7""'O~-'''''' .,-----.-~------.---~'~~----.--.. ---.,_ .. ---



c) Financial Instrument disclosures (continued) 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Quadriplegic Centre Board's financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity 
for a 1 % change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period. 

-100 basis !!olnts +100 basis !!oints 
Carrying 

8!!lm!o! SUf(!lus ~ SUf(!luS ~ 
2015 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Financiat Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 9,729 (97) (97) 97 97 

-100 basis !!oinS! +100 basis eoints 
Carrying 

6!!!2!!!l! SUf(!lus ~ Sur!!lus ~ 
2014 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Financlat Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 6,553 (66) (66) 66 66 

Fair Values 
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value 
unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes. 

---'--~~--'--~--- -----_ .... _ .. 



Auditor General 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Parliament of Western Australia 

QUADRIPLEGIC CENTRE BOARD 

Report on the Financial Statements 
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Quadriplegic Centre Board. 

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 

Board's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Treasurer's Instructions, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Board's preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Quadriplegic Centre Board at 30 June 2015 and 
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer's Instructions. 
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Report on Controls 
I have audited the controls exercised by the Quadriplegic Centre Board during the year ended 
30 June 2015. 

Controls exercised by the Quadriplegic Centre Board are those policies and procedures 
established by the Board to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the 
acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions. 

Board's Responsibility for Controls 
The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that 
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and 
other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 2006 and the Treasurer's Instructions, and other relevant written law. 

Auditor's Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the Quadriplegic Centre Board based on my audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls 
to ensure that the Board complies with the legislative provisions. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor's judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation 
of relevant controls. 

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Quadriplegic Centre Board are suffiCiently adequate 
to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the 
acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2015. 

Report on the Key Performance Indicators 
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Quadriplegic Centre Board for the year 
ended 30 June 2015. 

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision. 

Board's Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators 
The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer's 
Instructions and for such controls as the Board determines necessary to ensure that the key 
performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance. 

Auditor's Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
and Assurance Standards. 
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Board's preparation 
and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the relevance and 
appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of outcome 
achievement and service provision. 

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Quadriplegic Centre Board are relevant and 
appropriate to assist users to assess the Board's performance and fairly represent indicated 
performance for the year ended 30 June 2015. 

Independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements. 

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators 
This auditor's report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Quadriplegic Centre Board for the year ended 30 June 2015 included on the Board's website. 
The Board's management is responsible for the integrity of the Board's website. This audit does 
not provide assurance on the integrity of the Board's website. The auditor's report refers only to 
the financial statements and key performance indicators described above. It does not provide an 
opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial 
statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial statements and key 
performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a 
website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial statements and key 
performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this website version of the 
financial statements and key performance indicators. 

DON CUNNINGHAME 
ASSISTANT AUDITOR GENERAL FINANCIAL AUDIT 
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia 
11 September 2015 
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